
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 

February 6, 2024 
9:30 AM 

Bradford County Courthouse 
945 North Temple Avenue 

Starke, Florida 32091 
 

AGENDA  
 

1. Chair to call meeting to order. 
 

2. Public Comments 
 

 Three (3) minutes per speaker; 
 Comments will not be accepted after the meeting begins; 
 State your name and address into the record before addressing the board; 
 Address your questions to the board, not county staff; 
 Refrain from demands for an immediate board response; and 
 No boisterous behavior, personal, impertinent, or slanderous remarks. 

 
3. Approval of Consent Agenda 

 
A. Meeting Minutes from 12-21-2023 
B. Florida Challenge: TDC Marketing Event Invoice ($7,500) 
C. Approval of the purchase of a John Deer 85P Excavator to replace the 75G for 

mowing the rights-of-way. ($65,700) 
D. State EMS Matching Grant Approval for Emergency Ventilators for all Apparatus 

(Maximum $56,275.05 Grant Match, Allocated in Budget) 
E. Approval of Bradford County Transportation Plan 2023-2027 

 
4. Presentation to the Pink Ladies Auxiliary by Chief Ben Carter 

 
5. Proclamation of Hazardous Materials Awareness Weeks as February 19-25, 2024 

 
6. Strategic Planning Goals and Objective Measures 

 
7. Community Paramedicine Proposal – Bradford County Fire and Rescue 

 
8. Clerk Reports – Denny Thompson, Clerk to the Board and Clerk of the Circuit Court 

 
9. Sheriff Reports – Gordon Smith, Sheriff 

 
10. County Manager Reports – County Manager, Scott Kornegay 

 

ACTION 

ACTION 

Discussion 

ACTION 



A. Amendments to “Bradford County Board of County Commissioners Rules of 
Procedure” 
 

11. County Attorney Reports – Richard Komando 
 

12. Commissioner’s Comments 
 

13. Chair’s Comments 
 

NOTICE: 
Pursuant to Section 286.0105, Florida Statutes, notice is hereby provided that, if a person decides 
to appeal any decision made by the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, 
Florida with respect to any matter considered at this meeting or hearing, he or she will need a 
record of the proceedings, and that, for such purpose, he or she may need to ensure that a 
verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence 
upon which the appeal is to be based. 
 
 
 

 
 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET (AIIS) 

 

 

DATE OF MEETING:  February 6, 2024 

    

AGENDA ITEM_       Meeting minutes from 12-21-2023. 

 

 

DEPARTMENT:  Clerk’s Office  

 

 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
December 21, 2023 

6:30 P.M.  
Bradford County Courthouse 

945 North Temple Avenue 
Starke, Florida 32091 

 
MEETING MINUTES 

 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:   Commissioner District 1 – Chair Carolyn Spooner  

Commissioner District 4 – Vice-Chair Danny Riddick 
Commissioner District 2 – Kenny Thompson   

      Commissioner District 3 – Joseph C. Dougherty 
       
        
BOARD MEMBERS NOT PRESENT:  Commissioner District 5 – Diane Andrews  
 
PRESS PRESENT: Bradford County Telegraph  
 
STAFF MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE: County Manager Scott Kornegay; Executive Assistant Amanda 
Brown; County Attorney Rich Komando; Clerk Denny Thompson; Chief Deputy Clerk Rachel Rhoden; 
Finance Director Dana LaFollette; Supervisor of Elections Amanda Seyfang; Tax Collector Teresa Philips; 
Public Works Director Jason Dodds; Solid Waste Director Bennie Jackson; and Fire Rescue Chief Ben Carter. 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER: Chair Spooner called the meeting to order at 6:30 P.M.  
 

2. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
• Vyunda Strong 

 
3. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS: 

A. SHIP - PURCHASE ASSISTANCE – LOAN MODIFICATION AGREEMENT FOR FILE 
– AURORA L. WARREN/B. WARREN.  

B. A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD 
COUNTY, FLORIDA, ELECTING TO USE THE UNIFORM METHOD OF 
COLLECTING NON-AD VALOREM SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS FOR MORE THAN 
ONE YEAR LEVIED IN BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, TO FUND COSTS 
INCURRED BY THE COUNTY IN PROVIDING FIRE PROTECTION AND 
EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES EACH YEAR; STATING A NEED FOR SUCH 
LEVY; PROVIDING FOR THE MAILING OF THIS RESOLUTION; AND PROVIDING 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 
It was MOVED by Commissioner Dougherty and SECONDED by Commissioner Thompson to approve 
the consent agenda.  
 
Discussion - none 
 
Motion Carries 4-0 
 
 
 
 
 



December 21, 2023 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 2 of 4 
 
 
 

4. SCARLETT CYBERSECURITY AUDIT PRESENTATION.  
 
Chair Spooner recognized Jay Fowler, Executive Vice-President with Scarlett Cybersecurity who shared that his 
team completed their audit of Bradford County’s technology infrastructure, systems operations, and security 
risks as part of Florida Statutes 282.318 cybersecurity compliance. Mr. Fowler advised that Bradford County’s 

results are in alignment with the average of other counties audited by Scarlett. He reported that there are areas 
that need attention and that the audit results have been shared with the County Manager’s Office.   
 
Discussion – none 
 

5. CONSIDER APPROVAL UNDER FSA BID NO. FSA23-VEH21.0, FROM NEXTRAN TRUCK 
CENTER FOR A NEW 2025 MACK GR64B ROLL-OFF GARBAGE TRUCK - $218,971.  

 
Discussion: 

• Verification that the amount would be covered by funds in the county budget.  
 
It was MOVED by Commissioner Thompson and SECONDED by Commissioner Riddick to approve the 
purchase of a 2025 MACK GR64B roll-off garbage truck. 
 
Motion Carries 4-0 
 

6. PURCHASE IBM AS/400 (EQUIPMENT FOR TAX COLLECTOR) – $60,046 (SOLE 
SOURCE).  

 
Discussion: none.  
 
It was MOVED by Commissioner Dougherty and SECONDED by Commissioner Thompson to approve 
the purchase IBM as/400 $60,046 as sole source.  
 
Motion Carries 4-0 
 

7. APPROVAL OF QUOTE FROM STERTIL-KONI USA, INC. FOR HEAVY DUTY LIFT 
EQUIPMENT UNDER STATE CONTRACT/SOLE SOURCE - $108,169.30.  

 
Discussion: 

• Capability of lift: 6 post portable, capable of 19 thousand at each post, big enough to lift a dump truck 
and firetruck, includes jack stands.  

 
It was MOVED by Commissioner Dougherty and SECONDED by Commissioner Thompson to approve 
quote from Stertil-Koni USA, Inc. for heavy duty lift equipment under state contract/sole source - 
$108,169.30. 
 
Motion Carries 4-0 
 

8. CLERK REPORTS – DENNY THOMPSON – No reports.  



December 21, 2023 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 3 of 4 
 
 
 

9. SHERIFF REPORTS – GORDON SMITH – No reports.  
 

10. COUNTY MANAGER REPORTS – SCOTT KORNEGAY  
A. SURPLUS PROPERTY – DIRECTION TO STAFF FOR THE LISTINGS OF THE 

BROOKER WORKSHOP AND PIZZA HUT ON GOVDEALS.  
 
Mr. Kornegay asked the board for guidance regarding what to do with surplus property – the old Pizza Hut 
building and the Brooker workshop - that is advertised on Gov Deals but has not drawn any interest. He 
suggested that the board could consider reducing the price on Gov Deals, live auction of the property, or list the 
property on auction.com. According to Mr. Kornegay, one of the problems he has with Gov Deals is the costly 
buyers charge of 13%. 
 
Discussion:  

• Comments not in favor of reducing the sale prices.  
• Comments in favor of keeping the surplus property on Gov Deals and listing it on auction.com.  
• Remarks that the fact that the year is almost over may be the reason for the lack of interest in Gov Deals. 

 
The board was in CONSENSUS to keep advertising the property on Gov Deal, list it on auction.com, and 
check in again in two months. 
 
Mr. Kornegay reported that he participated in an active assailant exercise at the new elementary school. He 
commended the sheriff’s office for the well-organized event. He acknowledged Lt. Brad Witt, Col. Smith, Chief 
Carter, and Captain Mobley who participated in the event.  
 

11. COUNTY ATTORNEY REPORTS – RICHARD KOMANDO. None.  
 

12. COMMISSIONER’S COMMENTS 
 

Vice Chair Riddick 
• Comments on the meaning of Christmas.  
• Comments expressing gratitude to county staff.  

 
Commissioner Dougherty 

• Compliments to Chair Spooner for organizing the workshop on strategic planning.  
• Congratulations to Bradford High School football team on their football season.  
• Recognized public works – road department for getting roads in working condition after recent storm.  
• Thanked Mr. Kornegay for his continued efforts on the Douglas Building project.  

 
Commissioner Thompson: 

• Comments expressing gratitude to county staff.  
 

 
 
 
 



December 21, 2023 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 4 of 4 
 
 
 

13. CHAIR’S COMMENTS 
• Comments expressing appreciation to the board and staff.  
• Compliments on the library’s Christmas carnival event.  
• Compliments on the City of Starke’s Christmas parade.  
• Congratulations to Bradford High School football team on their football season and bringing the 

community together.  
• Comments on the Douglas Building project.  

 
ADJOURN: There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 7:02 p.m.  
 
        BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
        BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
               
        CAROLYN SPOONER, CHAIR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
        
DENNY THOMPSON, CLERK TO THE BOARD 
       
 
MINUTES PREPARED BY:          
     RACHEL RHODEN, CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK 
 
 
 
Minutes approved by the BOCC during a scheduled meeting on:       





































BO-\RD OIr (-()L'N'l\-CO\IIIISSIONLl{S ( )l IIR-\DFORD (-()L'\'l\'. }:I-ORID-\

.\(;IiND-\ I'I'T]\I IN IIO I{ N I, \'I'I ON SFIIiII'I

-\(]T,ND.\ ITENI

DLP,\RTNILN I:

I)L'RPOSE:

ur'

Rl0 fioi,,y,

r lru/ror{
4 c e l- Z f O /t o z v 

._/ol 1 
De-.rg gS F Ey c o,ralr To R4rl. r.

Pub/,l 6o.w rhc 7s0{"r m*i'3'4a/ 7'-t!

GS,IOO

to9-Ll-9rll.Lcl0a-og

Pagc 1 of 1

t).\'r'E:



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA

PU RC HAS E B ETWEEN $+,eg++oaaSr3Of

OUOTE DOCUMENTATION FORM

'1. Attached three (3) written quotes to this form.
2. Obtain a Purchase Order

- Attached this form AND three written quotes in the ADG finance system under
your requisition requ for a purchase order.t

Date:

Department:

Contact Person:

Item or Project:

Justification:

G/L Number:

A

23 J.oA

fi^bl,Ldo&Ls

en/

Gsor., Do&ls
JO)3 JoI" Dc-r< gE P

4 l.' a 9 <.-rv ro

n5- 2q-5q l- Ltu00 -or
RECOMMENDED QUOTE 1

Vendor

Quote Price: $ o

t co.

Note Bit # Fsazs. z/-a
County Manager (or Designee) Signature: -

QUOTE 2

Vendor:

Quote Price: $ 97, /E
s It Fsazo - ,i,tg.a

T

QUOTE 3

Vendor

Quote Price: s



*

Q.rcr*oo*e EQUIPMENT CO, Q.lo++roeene

September 14, 2023

Mr. Jason Dodds
Bradford County Road Department

Jason, thank you for the opportunity to provide the tbllowing quotes for your consideration. Please let me know if you have

any questions or need additional information. The tirllowing equipment is represented in the Florida Sherifli Association
2023 Statewide Contract -FSA Bid #FS,A23- EQU2l.0 Heavv Equiprnent

One new 2023 John Deere 85P excavator u'ith the follorving additional t'eatures Hydraulic Thumb. Hldraulic Quick
Coupler. Auxiliary hydraulic flow and independent control to run a rnulching head and 24" Heavy Duty construction bucket
with teeth. Also included 5-year subscription to JD Link rnachinc health rnonitoring service.

Warranty 2 year/2000-hour comprehensive (full) machine coverage with fiee travel time and mileage (TTM) for warranty
repairs.

Delivered Sell Price $149,700,

(

Trade offer forJohn Deere 75G serial number endint: in 0162-19 53{.000.

Trade otler for Cat D5N serial number CATOOD5NHAKD00876 $50.000.

I- t€..sdt-
- {rznd'<-

GL+ los'lTsqr' Lrrrr'o{
6Sr1oo

4
Best regards.
Steve Carter
Beard Equipment Company
Lake City, FL
904 769 9220

)

I{obile, AL
2480 E. l-65 SeMcs Rd. N./ 36617

251-45G1993

Ponsacola, FL
3195 W. Nine Mile Rd] 32534

850-476-0277

Panama Clty, FL
4625 Highway 231 N./ 32402

850-769-4844

Freeporl, FL
33 lndustrial Couru 32439

850{3t3337

Jacksonvlllo, FL
6870 Philips Highway/ 32216

90+29S5000

Lake City, FL
2578 SE Baya Dr./ 36055

386-752-9544

Pala*a, FL
356 N. Highway 171 32177

38&325-6268



F ,l/

Ring Power Corporation
390 SW Ring Court
Lake City, Florida 32025

QUOTE PER THE FLORIDA SHERIFF'S ASSOCIATION CONTRACT

Quote Prepa red For:

Bradford County

8128/2023

(1} NEW CATERPILLAR 309 HYDRAULIC EXCAVATOR

CONTRACT DETAILS

Florida Sheriff's Association

Bid # FSA2O-EQU18.O

Item # 52, Hydraulic Excavator - 15,590 LB.

Contract Effective Dates: October 1,2022 Through September 30,2023

BASE MACHINE

BASE

6L4-2s24
Caterpillar 308 Per Sheriffls Contract Specifications

U to 309 CFG16B, Base Machine Onl

ENGINE, EPA TIER 4 FINAL

ELECTRICAL ARR, C3.3 HRC

DRAIN, ECOLOGY

ALARM, TRAVEL

LIGHTS, LED

RADIO

BOOM, SWING

COUNTERWEIGHT, EXTRA

SOFTWARE, PROP, CONTROL

SOFTWARE, STICK STEER CONTROL

KIT, 2 WAY CONTROL

SOFTWARE, CODED START

STICK, LONG, HIGH FLOW

LINES, BOOM

LINES, STICK

LINKAGE, BUCKET W LIFTING EYE

EOU HOUSE SWING COVER, 8T

STD BLADE, LONG U/C, TG WPAD

s140,128
(S 2.se8)

NON.SPECIFIED OPTIONS

s18-6184
511-6253

382-8757

511-6157

5L!-62L7
511-6219

5L2-2573
525-6657

557-L709

557 -L7 tO

557 -1711

557-17t3
563-2091

514-8055

514-8067

568-1s67
505-3340

567-3575

INCL

INCL

INCL

INCL

INCL

INCL

INCL

tNct
INCL

INCL

INCL

INCL

s4,s80
NC

NC

S750
NC

s12,030

TOTAT OF BASE MACHINE S 137 530

RingPower CAI



510-6070

510-5085

5Lt-6t77
557 -5L23

s11-5235

522-6460

s23-3994
42L-8926

415-25s5
610-5484

5ZO-O778

516-1513

555-8731

571-3698

51,1ss
NC

S1,41s
NC

SsTo
NC

NC

NC

s300
5267

S 1,39s

s1,39s
NC

s1.986

52s,8s3
(s s.171)

SEAT, AIR SUSP, FABRIC, HEATED

BELT, SEAT, 3" RETRACTABLE

MONITOR NEXT GEN, ADVANCED, CR

PRODUCT LINK, CELLULAR PLE643

CAMERA, REAR VIEW

CAT KEY, WITH PASSCODE OPTION

INSTRUCTIONS, ANSI

SERIALIZED TECHNICAL MEDIA KIT

HEATER, WATER IACKET

ROTATING BEACON

CONTROL, QUICK COUPLER

LINE5, AUX, QC, LONG STK

FILM, COUPLER, ISO

KIT, WINDOW, FRONT, POLYCARBONATE

SUBTOTAL

LESS 2O% SH ERIFF'S CONTRACT DISCOUNT

COUPLER, PG, MANUAL DUAL LOCK,7.9T

BUCKET.HD, 24", 8.I FT3, 7T

BUCKET-DC, 54", 13.2 FT3, 7T

PrNS, BUCKET, SoMM, (2) @ s 12slSET

SUBTOTAL

LESS 12% SH E RIFF'S CONTRACT DISCOUNT

24 MONTH / 2000 HOUR NEW MACHTNE

TOTAL TRANSACTION PRICE

LESS ONE TIME ADDITIONAL DISCOUNT

TOTAL TRANSACTION PRICE

LESS TRADE OF CAT D5N SNf AKDOO876

LESS TRADE OF DEERE 75G SN# 016249

CAT WORK TOOLS

444-7 498

2 9 5-595 2

306,5662

308-0324

WARRANTY

52,618

52,s28
S3,s63
5250

S8,9s9
(s 1.07 5 )

INC L

5L67,276
{s 12.141)

s1ss,13s
(s40,000)

(528,000)

TOTAL OF NON-SPECIFIEO OPTIONS $20,682

TOTAL OF CAT WORK TOOLS s7,884

60 MONTH / 2500 HOUR PREMTER s1,180

TOTAL TRANSACTION PRICE INCLUDING TRADES 587,135

Best regards,

Todd Sandlin

Vice President / Regional Manager
Ring Power Corporation



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET (AIIS) 

 

 

DATE OF MEETING:  2-6-2024   

    

AGENDA ITEM_       State EMS Matching Grant Approval   

 

DEPARTMENT:  Fire Rescue  

 

PURPOSE: Approval needed to apply for the State EMS Matching Grant. 

Applying for new emergency ventilators for all apparatus.  

 

ASSOCIATED COSTS: Maximum of $56,275.05 for match. Allocated in budget.  

 

G/L ACCOUNT: 111-54-526-99200-00 

 

 

  

 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 

 

 

 

DATE:     February 6, 2024    

    

AGENDA ITEM Approval of Bradford County Transportation Plan 2023-2027 

 

DEPARTMENT: Department of Children and Families, Northeast Region 

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Program Office 

 

PURPOSE: The Bradford County Transportation Plan is developed by 

LSF, DCF, Law Enforcement, and applicable receiving 

facilities to coordinate transportation services. The Board 

does not have to do anything to implement, only approval of 

the plan is being sought.  

 

  

  



























Bradford County 

Transportation Plan 

 

In accordance with: 

Florida Statute 394, Baker Act; Florida Statute 397, Hal S. Marchman Alcohol 

and Other Drugs Services Act 

 

Three Year Plan 

2023-2027 

 

Approved by the Bradford County Board of County Commissioners at their 

regular meeting on February 6, 2024. 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Carolyn Spooner, Chairwoman 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 

 

 

 

DATE:     February 6, 2024     

    

AGENDA ITEM Presentation to Pink Ladies Auxiliary by Chief Ben Carter 

 

DEPARTMENT:    Fire/Rescue 

 

  



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 

 

 

 

DATE:     February 6, 2024    

    

AGENDA ITEM Proclamation of Hazardous Materials Awareness Week as 

February 19-25, 2024 

 

DEPARTMENT:    County Manager 

 

  



P R O C L A M A T I O N 
 

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS AWARENESS WEEK 
FEBRUARY 19 - 25, 2024 

 
WHEREAS, the safe use of hazardous materials is essential to citizens, business, industry and local governments to 

maintain economic stability and the public health; and 

 

WHEREAS, Bradford County recognizes the importance of protecting our community from both accidental and 

deliberate releases of hazardous materials; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is essential to increase community preparedness so that both public-sector and private-sector 

employees know how to safely protect themselves and those for whom they are responsible during an accidental or deliberate 

release of hazardous materials; and 

 

WHEREAS, Bradford County representatives participate on the North Central Florida Local Emergency Planning 

Committee; 

 

WHEREAS, the North Central Florida Local Emergency Planning Committee offers free hazardous materials 

emergency response training for firefighters, emergency medical, law enforcement and other public safety personnel as well as 

free Shelter In-Place Train-the-Trainer classes for community groups, businesses, schools and the general public as a means to 

increase safety in the event of a release; and 

 

WHEREAS, citizens need to know that emergency responders, emergency management, all levels of government, 

schools and businesses are working together to ensure that our community is as prepared as possible to protect all citizens from 

both accidental and deliberate releases of hazardous materials. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County Florida, that: 

 
February 19 - 25, 2024 is hereby proclaimed Hazardous Materials Awareness Week in Bradford County. 
 

PASSED AND DULY ADOPTED by the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida, in regular 
session on the 6th day of February 2024. 
 
        BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
        OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________   _____________________________________ 
Denny Thompson, County Clerk     Carolyn Spooner, Chair 
 
n:\projects 2024\hazardous materials awareness week\hazmat awareness week proclamation 2024.bradford county.docx 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 

 

 

 

DATE:     February 6, 2024     

    

AGENDA ITEM Strategic Planning Goals and Objective Measures 

 

DEPARTMENT:    BoCC 

 

PURPOSE: Discuss the proposed strategic planning goals, objectives, and 

timeframe for completion. 

  



Mission Statement Vision Statement
The mission of the Board of County 

Commissioner of Bradford County, Florida is to 
protect the health, safety, and wellbeing of 

the residents, communities, and environment 
of Bradford County through responsible 

governing of the resources entrusted to the 
Board by its citizens.

Our vision is for Bradford County to be recognised as a safe rural 
community, rich in history, culture, and common values, which 

strives for excellence as a great place to live, work,l raise a family, 
and experince planned evonomic growth and development.

Goal Objective Measure Target Date

Strategic Goal 1 Planned Economic Growth and Devlopment
1a) Increase Economic Growth & Development 
& Eco Tourism

Develop partnerships with University of Florida IFAS, North 
Central Florida Tourism Task Force Committee, North Florida 
Evonomic Development Partnership, and the North Florida 
Chamber of Commerce to pursue opportunities for new business 
growth. Hampton rail & trail program expansion. Target date 1-12 
months by Dec 2024

2024

1b) Housing for Anticipated Growth Through Bradford Housing and Development programs, apply for 
additional state and federal funding for additional housing 
programs. Target date 1-12 months by Dec 2024

2024

1c) Agriculture and Farm Development Develop a partnership with UF/IFAS to establish a community 
garden program at the local Bradford County Partners Health & 
Wellness Resouce HUB at the RJE school site on Pine Street to 
help with food insecurity. Develop a partnership with 4H club and 
FFA to target future farmers in Bradford. Develop other UF 
Partnerships as recommended via Amy. Target date 1-12 months 
by Dec 2024

2024

1d) Partnering with Neighboring Counties to 
Reap Benefit of Potential State and Federal 
Funds for Anticipated Growth & Economic 
Development.

Partner with neighboring counties: Clay, Alachua, and Union, to 
reap the benefit of potential state and federal funds for 
anticipated growth. Target date 1-5 yrs by Dec 2028

2028

Complete Keystone Airport project. Taget date 1-2yrs by Dec 2026 2026

Target additional growth 1-5 yrs by Dec 2028 2028

1e) Make Use of Vacant Structures for 
Warehouse Business Opportunities

Attract at least one new business. (Douglas Bld.) Target date 1-12 
months by Dec 2024

2024

Attract at least two new businesses. Target date 1-5 yrs by Dec 
2028

2028

1f) Business Development Along Bypass 
Interchanges.

Develop business near or along the bypass interchange to 
improve economic growth. Target having a commitment from at 
least one new business investor. Target date 1-12 months by Dec 
2024

2024

Have additional business investors. Target date 1-5 yrs by Dec 
2028

2028

Bradford County Strategic Plan Proposal



Goal Objective Measure Target Date

Strategic Goal 2 Public Health and Safety
2a) Public Health - Extend outreach Services to 
Community via HUB programs

Provide public outreach service to the county through Bradford 
county healthcare partnership HUB with the Health Department. 
Target opening at least 2 HUB service programs. Target date 1-12 
months by Dec 2024

2024

2b) Emergency Management Emergency Management/ Fire Rescue services for all areas of the 
county. Emergency Management will have safety/evacuation 
plans in place in case of natural disaster or domestic attack. Target 
date 1-12 months by Dec 2024

2024

2c) Fire Rescue Service to all areas of the 
County

Fire/Rescue develop a plan for fire services to cover extreme ends 
of the county, i.e. Brooker and Hampton. Target date 1-12 months 
by Dec 2024

2024

Add additional fire stations. Target date 1-5 yrs by Dec 2028 2028

2d) Law Enforcement Services for all areas of 
the County

Law enforcement service plans for outer areas of the county, i.e. 
Brooker and Hampton. Target date 1-12 months by Dec 2024

2024

2e) Protection of Water and Natural Resources Natural resource protection through a partnership with SRWMD 
and NCFRPC. Complete LDR and Comp Plan. Target date June 
2024

June 2024

Strategic Goal 3 Infrastucture and Mobility Improvement
3a) Broadband Service for Entire Community Partner with local internet providers, schools, and the library to 

pursue state and federal funding to acquire access to broadband 
services for entire county. Target 1-5yrs by Dec 2028

2028

3b) Partnership with Schools and Library Partner with local internet providers, schools, and the library to 
pursue state and federal funding to acquire access to broadband 
services for entire county. Target 1-5yrs by Dec 2028

2028

3c) Road Maintenance: 1. Unsafe roads in 
need of maintenance. 2. Unpaved roads need 
paved.

Road Maintenance and paivng of unpaved roads in the County. 
Use of SCOP/SCRAP funds and gas tax dollars. Partner with FDOT 
for state and federal funding for road projects. Target 1-5 yrs by 
Dec 2028

2028

3d) Water, Fire Hydrant, Wastewater Needs in 
Outlying Areas of County: Develop New 
Businesses Along the Bypass Interchange 
Areas

Partner with Starke to extend water and wastewater to bypass 
intercahnges and other parts of the County. On-going, Target date 
1-5yrs by Dec  2028

2028

Strategic Goal 4 Workforce Economic Improvement
4a) Employment Oportunities - Career 
Source/Florida Crown, Santa Fe College, 
Bradford-Union Technical College

Develop a partnership with Worksource and local colleges to 
improve local employment opportunities. Increase employmnent 
opportunites by 10%, measured by local data on employment in 
Bradford County. Target date 1-12 months by Dec 2024

2024

Strategic Goal 5 Public Transportation
5a) Access to Public Transportation Programs Partner with Suwannee River Economic Services and NFRPC 

Transportation Disadvantage program to expand trasportation 
services and pursue state and federal funding for additional 
transportation services. On-going Target date 1-5 yrs by Dec 2028

2028



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 

 

 

 

DATE:     February 6, 2024    

    

AGENDA ITEM Community Paramedicine Proposal 

 

DEPARTMENT:    Fire and Rescue 

 

  



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 

 

 

 

DATE:     February 6, 2023    

    

AGENDA ITEM Amendments to “Bradford County Board of County 

Commissioners Rules of Procedure” 

 

DEPARTMENT:    County Manager 

 

PURPOSE: Review and update of BoCC Rules of Procedure: Current 

policy was adopted by Resolution 2006-24. The suggested 

amendments to the policy are attached with strikeout or red 

letters to indicate proposed changes. 

 

 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
1 

“EXHIBIT A” 

BRADFORD COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

RULES OF PROCEDURE 

ADOPTED: FEBURARY 6, 2024 

TABLE OF CONTENTS  

I.  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION IN COUNTY GOVERNMENT………………. 3 

 A. Commission Meetings………………………………………………………… 3 

 B. Appearance Before the Commission…………………………………………... 4 

 C. Public Comments and Inquiries……………………………………………….. 5 

 D. Commission Meetings………………………………………………………… 5 

 E. Commission Meetings – Special……………………………………………….. 5 

 F. Commission Meetings – Emergency…………………………………………... 6 

 G. Informal Commission Meetings……………………………………………….. 6 

 H. Public Hearings; Time; Location……………………………………………… 7 

 I. Public Hearings; Procedure…………………………………………………… 7 

 J. Public Records; Inspection; Duplication………………………………………. 10 

 K. Commission Mail; Circulation; Public Review and Duplication………………... 10 

 L. Advisory Boards and Committees……………………………………………... 11 

II.  PREPARATION OF AGENDA; ORDER OF BUSINESS…………………. 12 

 A. Preparation of Agenda……………………………………………………….... 12 

 B. Agenda Material………………………………………………………………. 13 

 C. Meeting; Order of Business…………………………………………………… 13 

 D. Quorum………………………………………………………………………. 14 

 E. Required Attendance of Officials……………………………………………... 14 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
2 

 F. Clerk of the Commission; Parliamentarian; Minutes…………………………... 14 

 G. Sergeant-at-Arms……………………………………………………………... 15 

 H. Rules of Order and Debate…………………………………………………… 16 

 I. Voting………………………………………………………………………… 16 

 J. Conflict of Interest as Specified in Section 112.3143 or Section 286.011 Florida 
Statutes………………………………………………………………………... 

17 

 K. Ordinances……………………………………………………………………. 17 

 L. Resolutions……………………………………………………………………. 18 

 M. Motions……………………………………………………………………….. 18 

 N. Reconsideration of Action Previously Taken………………………………….. 18 

 O. Rescinding Action Previously Taken…………………………………………... 18 

III.  GENERAL PROVISIONS…………………………………………………... 19 

 A. Newly Elected Commissioners………………………………………………... 19 

 B. Election of Chair and Vice-Chair……………………………………………... 19 

 C. Commission Chair; Presiding Officer…………………………………………. 19 

 D. Commission Appointments to Boards and Committees………………………. 21 

 E. Functional Groups……………………………………………………………. 21 

 F. Suspension and Construction of Rules………………………………………... 21 

 G. Guidelines for Boards and Committees……………………………………….. 22 

Preliminary Note: 

1. Unless otherwise provided herein, all references to the County Manager, the Sheriff, or the 

County Attorney include said official’s designee, who shall have the same authority and 

responsibility as said official under these rules. 

2. A word importing the masculine gender only shall extend and be applied to females and to 

firms, partnerships, and corporations as well as to males. Removed. Pronouns generalized to 

they/them/their throughout the document. These changes are not marked in red/strikeout. 

 

 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
3 

I. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION IN COUNTY GOVERNMENT 

A. Commission Meetings 

 

1. All meetings of the Bradford County Commission, and of committees thereof, shall 

be open to the public in accordance with the Florida Government in the Sunshine 

Law, Section 286.011, Florida Statutes. 

 

2. The exception shall be those meetings statutorily exempt, such as executive collective 

bargaining sessions - Section 447 ,605(1), Florida Statutes; meetings regarding risk 

management claims - Section 768.28(15), Florida Statutes; and litigation meetings 

pursuant to Section 286.011(8) Florida Statutes. The Commission shall follow all 

statutory requirements for exempt meetings. 

 

3. Because of the need to comply with seating capacity requirements of the fire code, 

there may be occasions when entrance by the public to the Commission Board 

Room or other meeting rooms shall be limited. In those instances, the Commission 

may make other rooms available for those who desire to participate in the meeting. 

 

4. Regular meetings of the Commission will be conducted in a publicly owned or 

controlled building. Special meetings will also be conducted in a publicly owned or 

controlled building. All meetings will be held in a building that is open to the public. 

All meetings of the Commission will be conducted in a building that is open to the 

public. 

 

5. For public safety purposes, no signs or placards mounted on sticks, posts, poles, or 

similar structures will be allowed in Commission meeting rooms. Other signs, 

placards, or banners shall not disrupt meetings or interfere with a person's ability to 

observe the meeting. 

 

6. All persons with disabilities shall be provided with the assistance that is necessary to 

enable them to effectively participate in commission meetings.  

 

B. Appearance Before the Commission 

 

1. Persons desiring to address the Commission on a matter pending before it, or who 

need the attention of the Commission, may do so upon recognition and introduction 

by the Chair. To ensure that everyone has a fair opportunity to participate, these 

procedures will be followed: 

a. Prior to the beginning of a meeting or public hearing, all persons who wish 

to be heard will fill out the form provided and present it to the Clerk, 

giving their names, the agenda item, and whether they wish to speak as a 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
4 

proponent, opponent, or otherwise. If a sign-in sheet is required, any 

person who does not sign in may be permitted to speak after all those who 

signed in have done so. After being recognized, the person should: 

 

i. Step up to the speaker’s rostrum and state their name and address. 

 

ii. Limit comments to three minutes. 

 

iii. Address all remarks to the Commission Chair. as a body and not to a 

specific Commissioner. 

 

iv. Make comments and Present documents to the Commission, the 

Clerk, and the County Manager. 

 

b. Speakers should make comments concise and to the point and present any 

data or evidence they wish the Commission to consider. No person may 

speak more than once on the same subject unless granted permission by 

the Chair. 

 

c. The Commission may discuss the matter, assign it to a committee, refer it 

to the manager and/or attorney for review and comment, question the 

speaker, and/or take other appropriate action. 

 

d. No person other than a member of the Commission and the person having 

the floor may be permitted to enter into any discussion either directly or 

through a member of the Commission, without the permission of the 

Chair. No question may be asked except through the Chair. Speakers 

should refrain from disruptive conduct. 

 

e. Speakers should refrain from disruptive conduct and personal or 

slanderous remarks. 

 

2. A person may not interfere with or interrupt the orderly procedure of the 

Commission, any Commissioner, or the person the Chair has properly recognized. If 

the Chair declares an individual out-of-order, they will be requested to relinquish the 

speaker's rostrum. If the person does not do so, they are subject to removal pursuant 

to Section II (G), Sergeant-at-Arms. 

 

3. The Chair, subject to concurrence of the majority of the Commission, is authorized 

to establish speaker time limits and otherwise control presentations to avoid 

repetition. 

 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
5 

4. Employees of the County may address the Commission on matters of public 

concern. Employee comments that address an active grievance/arbitration, employee 

appeal matter, or a personnel dispute will not be entertained as a part of Citizen 

Comments. Employees will be advised of the appropriate forum and process for 

presenting or discussing such matters. 

 

C. Public Comments and Inquiries 

 

1. Persons may address the Commission on items not on the agenda during the Public 

Comment periods. 

 

2. The Commission shall not take final action on public comment items presented at 

the same meeting unless it waives these Rules of Procedure. 

 

3. When inquiries and comments are brought before the Commission, other than for 

items already on an agenda, the Chair may first determine whether the issue is 

legislative or administrative in nature and assign the issue to a committee or County 

Manager. 

 

4. The Chair may also assign to a Commissioner issues that require additional 

examination to a Commissioner. If so assigned, the Commissioner shall provide a 

report to the Commission when the examination is complete. 

 

D. Commission Meetings 

 

1. Unless otherwise advertised, all regular meetings of the Bradford County 

Commission are conducted at 9:30 a.m. on the first Monday Tuesday of the month 

and at 6:30 p.m. on the third Thursday of each month and in the County 

Commission Board Room in the Bradford County Courthouse, North Annex, 945 

North Temple Avenue, in Starke, Florida. 

 

2. From time to time, Regular meetings may be adjusted by the Commission to 

accommodate a holiday schedule or other special circumstances. Prior notice of such 

a change shall be provided to the public, the Clerk, and the media. While a A 

minimum advanced notice of twenty-four (24) hours is required, though the 

Commission will provide as much advance notice of a regular meeting as is feasible. 

Published schedules are available in January of each year. 

 

E. Commission Meetings – Special 

 

1. Any two (2) Commissioners may call for a special meeting of the Commission. Such 

a request shall be in writing and shall contain the time, place, and business to be 

conducted. The notice of a special meeting shall be located at the entrance to the 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
6 

North Annex of the Bradford County Courthouse and on the Commission Board 

Room door. The time and place of the special meeting will be added to the meetings 

list. Special meetings may be held upon no less than twenty-four (24) hours public 

notice. 

 

2. Each Commissioner, the Clerk of the Court, the Sheriff, the County Manager, and 

the County Attorney shall be given twenty-four (24) hours prior notice of the special 

meeting. Such notice shall be provided by any reasonable means, including 

telephone, e-mail, or facsimile transmission to the person's residence, place of 

employment, or other location, whichever site is most likely to ensure the person's 

receipt of the notice. 

 

3. Twenty-four (24) hours prior notice of the special meeting shall be provided to the 

business office of each local media organization that has a written request for notice 

of special meetings on file. Such notice shall be provided by any reasonable means, 

including telephone, e-mail, or facsimile transmission. 

 

4. Special meetings may be scheduled on days or evenings in addition to the first 

Monday Tuesday and third Thursday of the month. 

 

5. An agenda outlining the business to be conducted will be available prior to the 

meeting. No business other than items listed on the agenda shall be conducted unless 

declared as an emergency item. Public comment shall be allowed on items on the 

agenda, but there will not be a separate public comment period included on the 

agenda. 

 

6. If there is no longer a need for a special meeting, the person who called the meeting 

is authorized to cancel the meeting. 

 

F. Commission Meetings – Emergency 

 

1. Any one Commissioner or the County Manager may call, orally or in writing, an 

emergency meeting. 

 

2. The call for an emergency meeting shall contain the time, place, and business to be 

conducted. The time and place of the emergency meeting will be added to the 

meetings list. Emergency meetings may be held, when practicable, upon the most 

reasonable notice allowable under the circumstances.  

 

3. Each Commissioner, the Clerk of the Court, the Sheriff, the County Manager, and 

the County Attorney shall be given the most reasonable notice allowable under the 

circumstances. Such notice shall be provided by any reasonable means, including 

telephone, e-mail, or facsimile transmission to the person's residence, place of 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
7 

employment, or other location, whichever site is most likely to ensure the person's 

receipt of the notice.  

 

4. The most reasonable notice allowable under the circumstances of the emergency 

meeting shall be provided to the business office of each local media organization that 

has on file a written request for notice of emergency meetings. Such notice shall be 

provided by any reasonable means, including telephone, e-mail, or facsimile 

transmission.  

 

5. Emergency meetings may be scheduled on days or evenings in addition to the first 

Monday Tuesday and third Thursday of the month. 

 

6. An agenda outlining the business to be conducted will be available prior to the 

meeting. No business shall be conducted other than the items listed on the agenda. 

Public comment shall be allowed on items on the agenda, but there will not be a 

separate public comment period included on the agenda. 

 

7. If there is no longer a need for an emergency meeting, the person who called the 

meeting is authorized to cancel the meeting. 

 

G. Informal Commission Meetings 

The Chair, Commission, or County Manager may schedule informal meetings, inspection 

trips, or retreats. Advance notice of these meetings shall be given in the same manner as 

special meetings. Minutes of these meetings shall be made available by the Clerk's Office. 

H. Public Hearings; Time; Location 

 

1. Public hearings shall be held on either regularly scheduled meeting day and are 

normally conducted at the start of the proceedings. Unless advertised otherwise, 

public hearings are conducted in the County Commission Board Room at 925 North 

Temple Avenue in Starke, Florida. The matters under consideration shall be heard at 

the designated time, or as soon thereafter as practicable. 

 

2. By vote of a majority plus one, pursuant to section 125.66(4)(b)(1), Florida Statutes, 

the Commission may conduct public hearings for those applications identified in this 

subsection usually required after 5:00 p.m. at another time of day. Public hearings 

may be continued from a prior meeting or scheduled on days or evenings in addition 

to the first Monday Tuesday and third Thursday of each month. Prior to the 

beginning of any meeting or public hearing, the Chair requires that all persons who 

wish to be heard fill out the form provided and present it to the Clerk. 

 

3. Any person who does not sign in may be permitted to speak after all those who 

signed in have done so. The Chair, subject to the concurrence of a majority of the 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
8 

Commission, is authorized to establish speaker time limits and otherwise control 

presentations to avoid repetition. 

 

 

I. Public Hearing; Procedures 

 

1. Public Hearings: Generally, the procedures to be followed for public hearings are as 

follows: 

 

a. The County Manager or their designee should describe the agenda item to 

be considered and provide the staff recommendation. The Chair will then 

inquire as to whether any Commissioners have questions for 

administration. The Chair will inquire as to whether any member of the 

public has questions or comments. 

 

b. Following public comment, if any, the Chair will close the public hearing 

and inquire if any Commissioner wishes to put forth a motion. Following a 

motion and its second, discussion will occur among Commissioners.  

 

c. The Chair will inquire if there is any further discussion by the 

Commissioners and any final comments or recommendations from the 

administration. The Chair may entertain comments from the public about 

the motion on the floor. The presiding officer restates the motion. 

 

d. The Chair inquires of the Commissioners as to whether they are ready for 

the question and restates the vote.  

 

2. Quasi-Judicial Hearings: Generally, the procedures to be followed for Quasi-judicial 

hearings are as follows: 

 

a. Prior to the commencement of quasi-judicial hearings, the Chairman or the 

County Attorney will provide the public with an explanation of Quasi-

judicial proceedings and shall read the following statement: 

 

"All persons wishing to participate and speak will be sworn in prior to 

speaking during this proceeding. All persons have the right, through the 

Chair, to ask questions of staff or other speakers, to seek clarification of 

comments made by staff or other speakers and respond to comments or 

presentations of staff or other speakers. All persons who present written 

materials to Commissioners for consideration must ensure that a copy of 

such materials is provided to the Clerk for inclusion in the official record 

of proceedings and official minutes, and to the County Manager for a 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
9 

matter of record. While we welcome comments from all persons with an 

interest in this proceeding, Florida law requires that the County 

Commission decisions in a quasi-judicial action be supported by competent 

substantial evidence presented to the Commission during the hearing on 

the application. Competent substantial evidence is such evidence as a 

reasonable mind would accept as adequate to support a conclusion. There 

must be a factual basis in the record to support opinion testimony from 

both expert and non-expert witnesses. Persons presenting testimony may 

rely on factual information that they present, that is presented by County 

staff, that the applicant presented, or on factual information included in the 

County staff reports to support their testimony." 

 

b. After reading the statement, the deputy clerk will make the following 

inquiry of the County Commissioners:  

 

"Has any Commissioner received any oral or written communications 

regarding the zoning items? If so, please disclose the substance of the 

communication and identify the person making the communication. 

Disclosure made must be made before or during the public meeting at 

which a vote is taken on such matters, so that persons who have opinions 

contrary to those expressed in the ex parte communication are given a 

reasonable opportunity to refute or respond to the communication." 

 

c. The Clerk shall administer the affirmation or oath to all persons who desire 

to speak at quasi-judicial proceedings before the County Commission. 

 

d. A consent agenda document may be used for zoning items. Items that have 

unanimous staff and Planning Commission recommendation for approval, 

and no opposition received from the public prior to the meeting, may be 

placed on the consent agenda. The commission will consider the consent 

agenda at the beginning of the meeting. 

 

e. The County Manager shall describe the quasi-judicial item to be considered 

and make a presentation pertaining to the item. The Chair shall then 

inquire as to whether any Commissioner has questions for the staff 

members who made the presentation. After the Commissioner’s questions 

are answered, the Chair will ask if any of the parties to the proceeding have 

any questions of staff members who made presentations. 

 

f. If the subject of the quasi-judicial hearing is a zoning matter, the zoning 

applicant or their representative will make a presentation pertaining to the 

application. The Chair will once again inquire as to whether 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
10 

Commissioners and the parties to the proceeding have questions of the 

applicant and the applicant's representatives.  

 

g. The Chair will next ask if any members in the audience wish to present 

testimony. At the conclusion of the testimony, the Chair will ask if any of 

the Commissioners or any of the parties to the proceeding have questions 

of the witness.  

 

h. There will be an opportunity for applicant rebuttal and staff closing 

comments.  

 

i. The Chair will then inquire of the Commissioners as to whether they are 

prepared to vote to address the application before them. 

 

3. Ex parte Communications: Section 286.0115, Florida Statutes, provides that any 

person who is not otherwise prohibited by statute, charter provision, or ordinance 

may discuss with any commissioner the merits of any matter on which the 

Commission may take action. The following procedures, which remove the 

presumption of prejudice, shall be followed for ex parte communication.  

 

a. The substance of any ex parte communication with a Commissioner which 

relates to a quasi-judicial action pending before the Commission (such as a 

zoning decision) is not presumed prejudicial to the action if the subject of 

the communication and the identity of the person, group or entity with 

whom the communication took place is disclosed and made a part of the 

record before the final action on the matter.  

 

b. A Commissioner may read a written communication from any person. A 

written communication that relates to quasi-judicial action pending before 

the Commission (such as a zoning decision) shall not be presumed 

prejudicial to the action. Such written communication shall be made a part 

of the record before final action on the matter.  

 

c. Commissioners may conduct investigations and site visits and may receive 

expert opinions regarding quasi-judicial action pending before the 

Commission. Such activities shall not be presumed prejudicial to the action 

if the existence of the investigation, site visit or expert opinion is made a 

part of the record before final action on the matter.  

 

J. Public Records; Inspection; Duplication 

 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
11 

Pursuant to chapter 119, Florida Statutes, all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, 

tapes, photographs, films, sound recordings, email messages, or other material, regardless 

of physical form or characteristics, made or received pursuant to law or in connection 

with the transaction of official business by any agency, are public records. A public 

record (including information stored in computers) is open to public inspection and 

duplication, unless exempted by law. 

 

If the purpose of a document prepared in connection with the official business of the 

agency is to perpetuate, communicate, or formalize knowledge, and then it is a public 

record regardless of whether it is in final form or the ultimate product of an agency. 

 

Requests for copies of public information (including the Chair’s mail and videotapes of 

Commission meetings and workshops) should be made through the Clerk’s office. The 

cost shall be as established by the Commission by resolution. 

 

Any and every media conference officially sponsored by Bradford County Government 

will be open to all media representatives and to the general public. Press conferences will 

be conducted in a location that is publicly accessible. 

1. With respect to public records requests, guidelines set forth in Chapter 119, Florida 

Statutes will be followed. 

 

2. Requests for copies of public records from any board supervised department should 

be made through the County Manager’s office. All other public record requests 

should be directed to the appropriate office. 

 

3. Requests for copies of public meeting minutes or meeting recordings of the Planning 

and Zoning Board or Board of Adjustment should be made through the Building 

and Zoning office. 

 

4. Requests for copies of public meeting minutes or meeting recordings of the 

Bradford County Board of County Commissioners should be made through the 

Clerk’s office. 

 

5. Any and every media conference officially sponsored by Bradford County 

Government will be open to all media representatives and to the public. Press 

conferences will be conducted in a location that is publicly accessible. 

 

 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
12 

K. Commission Mail; Circulation; Public Review and Duplication 

 

All mail addressed to the Chair and the Commissioners, which is received pursuant to 

law or in connection with the transaction of official business, is a public record (chapter 

119, Florida Statutes). The public may review and duplicate these records via e-mail.  

 

Each Commissioner will be provided with a copy of the Chair's mail. The originals with 

attachments will remain in the Chair's mail file. Items of considerable length (such as 

petitions) will not be copied; instead, a memorandum will be distributed which 

announces the availability and location of the item in the office. Publications and lengthy 

agenda materials for other boards on which Commissioners serve will not be copied; 

only the agenda will be circulated.  

 

Each Commissioner will receive the original items addressed to them. Mail with words 

similar to "Personal", "Confidential" or "For the Addressee Only" shall be delivered 

unopened to the addressee. 

 

The Chair and Commissioners who receive individually addressed mail will be 

responsible for replying; requesting that the County Manager draft a response for their 

signature; or requesting that the item be placed on the agenda for formal Commission 

consideration. The County Manager shall be responsible for ensuring that mail addressed 

to the Chair, or the Commission is properly answered or placed on an agenda. 

 

1. A copy of all correspondence addressed to any Commissioner about matters 

pertaining to county-wide business will be sent to each commissioner. Copies will 

not be forwarded to other Commissioners if the matter exclusively pertains to that 

Commissioner and the district they represent. Mail with words similar to “Personal,” 

“Confidential,” or “For Addressee Only” shall be delivered unopened to the 

addressee. Items of considerable length, such as petitions, will not be copied; instead, 

a memorandum will be distributed which announces the availability and location of 

the item in the office. Publications and lengthy agenda materials for other boards on 

which Commissioners service will not be copied; only the agenda will be circulated. 

 

2. All items deemed to be a matter of homeland security shall not be public record as in 

accordance with federal and state statutes. 

 

 

 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
13 

L. Advisory Boards or Committees 

 

The mission of the advisory boards and committees shall be to examine the various policy 

issues referred to them by the Commission, staff, or as determined in the board or 

committee. Committees shall provide guidance to the Commission in the development of 

policy recommendations but shall not attempt to manage the administrative operations of 

the County or direct staff. 

 

1. Advisory boards and committees may be created and dissolved by resolution, ordinance, 

or other act adopted by the Commission. 

  

2. The Commission, after advertising vacancies, appoints committee members. All 

members shall serve at the pleasure of the Commission. 

 

3.  The County Manager’s office shall provide to the Chair of each advisory board or 

committee and appropriate department director copies of all resolutions or ordinances 

which pertain to that committee. Such information shall be delivered to the committee 

chair within one (1) week after adoption by the Commission, or as soon thereafter as 

possible.  

 

4. Appointment to advisory boards shall be by voice vote during a regular Commission 

meeting. Priority shall be given to applicants from Bradford County. All members serve 

at the pleasure of the Comrnission.  

 

5. All Commission advisory boards, commissions, and other bodies shall meet in public 

buildings. buildings open to the public. 

 

 

6. All statutory boards, commissions, and advisory bodies shall publish minutes taken at 

each meeting. Communications to the Commission from such boards, commissions, and 

bodies shall be received in the Office of the County Manager or in the mail of the 

Commission Chair and provided by printed copy or e-mail to the Commission, where 

practicable.  

 

7. All Chairs of advisory boards or committees are encouraged to provide updates to the 

County Commission at its regularly scheduled business meetings or public hearings. All 

requests for presentations shall be submitted to the Office of the County Manager.  

 

8. Members appointed to advisory boards and committees should generally serve a 

maximum of two (2) terms. The Commission may make exceptions to this general policy 

on a case-by-case basis: (1) when no person applies for a vacant position (2) when 

necessary to preserve the stability of a board or committee; (3) when necessary to retain 

a particular appointee because of their special knowledge and expertise; or (4) for such 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
14 

other reasons or circumstances as the Commission deems appropriate. When filling a 

vacancy for an unexpired term, an appointee who serves more than half a term in office 

is considered to have served a full term. When filling a vacancy for an unexpired term of 

less than one year, the appointment shall be for the unexpired term and one full term, 

when applicable.  

 

9. County employees may serve on advisory boards or committees.  

 

10.  The personal and business affairs of appointees, when conducted within Bradford 

County, must be in substantial compliance with all County regulatory and taxing 

authorities' rules and regulations. Appointees deemed to be in chronic violation of any 

County rule, regulation, or policy may be disallowed from membership on advisory 

boards or committees by a majority vote of the Commission.  

 

11.  Advisory boards and committees are required to adhere to the Guidelines for Citizen 

Advisory Boards and Committees as approved by the County Commission and codified 

in this document in Section III (G). 

 

II. PREPARATION OF AGENDA; ORDER OF BUSINESS 

 

A. Preparation of Agenda 

 

1. The County Manager’s office shall prepare the agenda. according to a policy guide 

developed by the County Manager and confirmed by the Commission. The Chair, any 

Commissioner or Constitutional Officer, the County Manager, or the County Attorney 

may place an item on the agenda. The County Manager will provide the tentative agenda 

to the Chair no less than ten (10) seven (7) days prior to a regular meeting. The Chair 

and County Manager will meet to discuss each agenda item. 

 

2. The Chair, any Commissioner or Constitutional Officer, the County Manager, or the 

County Attorney may request that an item be scheduled for a time certain. Persons 

requesting an item to be scheduled for a time certain shall submit the request to the 

County Manager no later than ten (10) twelve (12) days prior to the meeting. 

Presentation on time-certain items will normally not exceed thirty (30) minutes in length. 

 

3. The Chair, any Commissioner or Constitutional Officer, the County Manager, or the 

County Attorney may schedule an item for a time certain that recognizes County 

employees or citizens. These recognitions will generally honor individuals, teams, or 

organizations for activities or actions that benefit Bradford County. Recognition 

presentations will not exceed fifteen (15) minutes. 

 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
15 

B. Agenda Material 

 

A copy of the agenda and supporting materials shall be prepared for each Commissioner, the 

public, and the media before 5:00 p.m. six (6)three (3) days prior to the regular Commission 

meeting or Public Hearing, except when legally observed holidays affect copying and 

distribution. The agenda, as well as lengthy reports that are part of agenda documentation, 

shall be available for review in the County Manager’s office and on the County website. Each 

Commissioner should carefully review the Consent Agenda to determine whether there is 

any item they wish to have placed on the Regular Agenda. 

 

C. Meeting; Order of Business 

 

1. The business of all regular meetings of the Commission should be transacted as follows; 

provided, however, that the Chair may, by simple majority vote or consensus of the 

Commission, re-arrange items on the agenda to conduct the business more expeditiously 

before the Commission:  

 

a. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

b. Presentation and approval of amendments to the Agenda.  

 

i. An amendment to the agenda is an emergency addition to the regular 

or consent agenda and consists of items which are submitted for 

agenda consideration after the established deadline. A grant 

application is an example of such an item. Amendments will be made 

only when warranted. (Made its own item for clarification.) 

 

ii. Prior to a vote on the motion to adopt the Consent Agenda, the 

Chair shall inquire if any Commissioner wishes any other items to be 

withdrawn from the Consent Agenda. If any member of the 

Commission withdraws any matter; the Chair shall place the item at 

an appropriate place on the agenda for the current or a future 

meeting. (Moved from item “d” below) 

 

c. Approval of any amendments to the Regular and Consent Agenda. 

 

d. Adoption of the Regular Agenda.  

 

c. Public Comments: Any person may address the Commission under this 

agenda section. Public Comments will normally be scheduled immediately 

prior to the Consent Agenda of all commission meetings.  

(Items c. and d. have been swapped from their original position in 

this document to place them in the order they appear on the agenda) 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
16 

 

d. Approval of all items on the Consent Agenda. Prior to a vote on the 

motion to adopt the Agenda, the Chair shall inquire if any Commissioner 

wishes any other items to be withdrawn from the consent Agenda. If any 

member of the Commission withdraws any matter; the Chair shall place the 

item at an appropriate place on the agenda for the current or a future 

meeting. (Crossed-out section moved to C1b(ii)) 

 

e. Proclamations may be read at any time during the meeting.   

 

f. Appointments to Advisory Boards and Committees.  

 

g. Committee Reports   

 

h. Constitutional Officers/Other Governmental Units 

 

i. County Attorney 

 

j. County Manager 

 

k. Commission Comments 

 

l. Adjournment 

 

2. No meeting should be permitted to continue beyond midnight without the approval of a 

majority vote of the Commission. A new time limit must be established before taking a 

Commission vote to extend the meeting. In the event that a meeting has not been closed 

or continued by Commission vote prior to midnight, the items not acted on are to be 

continued to a designated time on the following day, unless state law requires a hearing 

at a different time or unless the Commission, by a majority vote of members present, 

determines otherwise. 

 

D. Quorum 

 

A quorum for the transaction of business by the Commission consists of three (3) 

Commissioners. Once a quorum has been established, a majority of the Commissioners 

present at the meeting shall be required to carry a motion, unless by statute, ordinance, or 

other regulation, a supermajority (4/5) of the Commission is required. 

 

E. Required Attendance of Officials 

In addition to Commissioners, County officials whose regular attendance shall be required at 

meetings of the Commission are the Clerk, the County Manager, the County Attorney, or 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
17 

their designees. A representative of the Bradford County Sheriff’s Office shall be present to 

provide security and assistance in maintaining order. A representative of the Information 

Technology Department will be present to provide assistance with running equipment and 

any broadcast or streaming of the meeting. 

F. Clerk of the Commission; Parliamentarian; Minutes 

 

The Clerk, or in their absence, the County Attorney, serves as parliamentarian, and advises 

the Chair as to of the correct rules of procedure or questions of specific rule application. The 

parliamentarian calls to the attention of the Chair any errors in the proceedings that may 

affect the substantive rights of any member or may otherwise do harm. Pursuant to the 

agenda, the Clerk or Chairman shall announce the business that shall come before the 

Commission.  

 

1. The Clerk shall make correct minutes of the proceedings of each regular, special, or 

emergency Commission meeting. A Commissioner designated by the Chair reviews the 

draft minutes. The Clerk shall provide corrected copies of the final minutes to each 

Commissioner for their reading. 

 

2. The Clerk shall notify the County manager’s office to place the minutes on the agenda 

for approval by the Commission. Unless some error is shown, such minutes will stand 

confirmed at the regular Commission meeting without a reading in open meeting. In 

such an event, an appropriate correction is made. A copy of the draft minutes of the last 

regular Commission meeting shall be available for review at the reception desk in the 

County Manager’s office. 

 

3. The Clerk shall be responsible for recording County Commission workshops. 

Preparations of workshop minutes are the responsibility of County Clerk.  

 

4. Upon request, the County Manager may ask that the Clerk provide any Commissioner 

with transcribed excerpts of tapes of Commission meetings.  

 

G. Sergeant-At-Arms 

 

The County Manager shall be Sergeant-at-Arms of the Commission meetings. The Bradford 

County Sheriff’s Office shall assist the County Manager in performing this duty. The County 

Manager shall carry out all orders and instructions given by the Commission for the purpose 

of maintaining order and decorum at the Commission meeting. The following policy will 

provide guidance in handling disruptions: 

 

1. If an individual refuses to relinquish the podium after being allowed to address the 

Commission, the Chair shall inform the individual that their time to address the 

Commission has expired and the Chair shall direct the individual to leave the podium. 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
18 

 

2. If an individual causes disruption in the Commission meeting site, the Chair shall inform 

the individual causing the disruption to cease the disruptive activity. 

 

3. If the disruption fails to stop:  

 

a. The Chair shall inform the individual causing the disruption that their 

actions are contrary to the orderly function of the meeting and that the 

individual is to cease such action, or the Sergeant-at-Arms (County 

Manager/designee) shall be instructed to remove the individual from the 

meeting site. The Chair shall direct the individual to leave the meeting site.  

 

b. The Chair shall inform the individual that, if they is directed to leave and 

fail to do so, the individual shall be subject to arrest for trespassing. 

 

 

c. If the disruption fails to cease, the Chair is authorized to take final action 

and read the following: “As the Commission Chair, I inform you that your 

actions are inconsistent with the orderly function of this meeting, and you 

have failed to comply with the lawful order of the Chair. I instruct the 

Sergeant-At-Arms to have you removed from this meeting site, and if 

deemed necessary by the Sergeant-at-Arms, to remove you from this 

building.” and instruct the Sergeant-at-Arms to remove the individual 

causing the disruption from the meeting site or building, whichever they 

deem necessary. 

 

H. Rules of Order and Debate 

 

Every Commission member desiring to speak should address the Commission Chair and, 

upon recognition by the Chair, should confine their comments to the question under debate. 

 

1. The maker of a motion shall be entitled to the floor first for debate. 

 

2. A member, once recognized, should not be interrupted when speaking unless to call said 

member to order. The member should then cease speaking until the question of order is 

determined, without debate, by the Chair. If in order, said member will be at liberty to 

proceed. 

 

3. If the Commission Chair wishes to put forth or second a motion, they shall relinquish 

the chair, in the following order, to: (1) the Vice Chair; (2) the senior Commission 

member (if the Vice Chair is absent); (3) another Commission member who has 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
19 

remained impartial; or the Clerk, until the main motion on which the presiding officer 

spoke has been disposed.  

 

4. The most recent edition of Robert’s Rules of Order shall be the rules of the 

Commission, so long as they do not conflict with ordinances, statutes, these rules, or the 

Bradford County Code.  

 

I. Voting 

 

The votes during all Commission meetings should be transacted as follows: 

 

1. In order to expedite business, the Chair shall determine whether to call for the vote by 

voice or electronic voting equipment. At the request of any Commissioner, a roll call 

vote shall be taken by the Clerk. The roll call vote may be determined in alphabetical 

order, with the Chair voting last. The roll call vote may be determined in any order, with 

the Chair voting last. 

 

2. When the Chair calls for a vote on a motion, every member, who was in the Commission 

chambers must give their vote, unless the member has publicly stated that they are 

abstaining from voting due to a conflict of interest, pursuant to Section 112.3143 or 

Section 286.011, Florida Statutes. lf any Commissioner declines to vote "aye" or "nay" by 

voice, their vote shall be counted as an "aye" vote.  

 

3. The passage of any motion, policy, or resolution shall require the affirmative vote of at 

least a majority of the membership of the Commissioner who are present and eligible to 

vote. In the case of tie in votes on any proposal, the proposal shall be considered lost. 

 

4. Any Commissioner shall have the right to express dissent from or protest any ordinance, 

resolution, or policy of the Commission, and to have the reason therefore entered in the 

minutes.  

 

5. lf a motion is not carried by at least a majority of Commissioners present; the proposal 

shall be considered lost. 

 

J. Conflict of Interest as Specified in Section 112.3143 or Section 286.011, Florida 

Statutes 

 

No Commissioner shall vote in their official capacity on a matter which would inure to their 

special private gain, or which the Commissioner knows would inure to the special private 

gain of any principal by whom they are retained, of the parent organization or subsidiary of a 

corporate principal by which they are retained, or a relative or of a business associate. Within 

fifteen (15) days following that Commission meeting, they shall file with the Clerk to the 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
20 

Commission a written description of the nature of their interest in the matter. The statement 

shall be received by the Clerk and incorporated into the minutes of the meeting. 

 

K. Ordinances 

 

1. An enacted ordinance is a legislative act which prescribes general, uniform, and 

permanent rules of conduct relating to the corporate affairs of the County. Commission 

action shall be taken by ordinance when required by law, or to prescribe permanent rules 

of conduct which continue in force until repealed, or where such conduct is enforced by 

penalty. All ordinances shall be introduced in writing and scheduled for public hearing 

after advertisement. 

 

2. By vote of one more than the majority, the Commission may, without notice or hearing, 

adopt an emergency ordinance. The emergency ordinance shall contain a declaration 

describing the emergency, and shall be passed in accordance with Section 125.66(3), 

Florida Statutes. 

 

L. Resolutions 

Generally, an enacted resolution is an internal legislative act and is a formal statement of 

policy concerning matters of special or temporary character. Commission action shall be 

taken by resolution when required by law and in those instances where an expression of 

policy more formal than a motion is desired. All resolutions shall be reduced to writing. A 

resolution may be put to its final passage on the same day on which it was introduced. 

M. Motions 

 

An enacted motion is a form of action taken by the Commission to direct that a specific 

action be taken on behalf of the county. A motion, once approved and entered into the 

record, is the equivalent of a resolution in those instances where a resolution is not required 

by law. All motions shall be made and seconded before debate. Before the Chair has stated a 

motion, its sponsor may change or withdraw it without the Commission's permission, and 

any member or the Chair may request that the maker withdraw it.  

 

N. Reconsideration of Action Previously Taken 

 

1. A motion to reconsider enables the Commission to set aside a vote on a main motion 

taken at the same meeting and to consider that motion again as though no vote had been 

taken on it.  

 

2. A motion to reconsider shall be allowed at any time by any Commissioner during a 

meeting, except when a motion on some other subject is pending. No motion by any 

Commissioner to reconsider shall be made more than once on any subject at the same 

meeting. 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
21 

 

3. Upon passage of a motion to reconsider, no substantive action on the matter may be 

taken until a subsequent meeting so that the public and media may be on notice of the 

matter to be reconsidered. The subject matter shall be scheduled for the next regular 

Commission meeting for any action the Commission deems advisable. 

 

O. Rescinding Action Previously Taken 

Commission action may be rescinded by a supermajority, or 4/5ths vote. After a motion to 

reconsider has been adopted by a majority vote, any Commissioner may, at the next regular 

Commission meeting, move to rescind the action previously taken.  

 

III. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 

A. Newly Elected Commissioners 

 

The term of County Commissioners elected to office shall commence on the first regular 

scheduled meeting following the general election as specified in Section 100.41, Florida 

Statutes. The County Manager will coordinate a swearing-in ceremony for newly elected 

commissioners. The County Manager shall provide an orientation program.  

 

B. Election of Chair and Vice Chair 

 

The Clerk shall preside over the election of officers. Procedures for electing officers are as 

follows:  

 

1. At the last meeting in November of each year the Chair will call for nominations of a 

new Chair from the Commissioners.  

 

2. Nominations will be accepted or declined by the nominee and the current Chair will 

either call for another nomination or for a vote. A Vice-Chair is also elected in a like 

manner. The Vice-Chair continues to have all the rights, privileges, and immunities of a 

member of the commission.  

 

3. ln case of the absence or temporary disability of the Chair, the Vice-Chair serves as Chair 

during the absence. ln case of the absence or temporary disability of the Chair and the 

Vice-Chair, an Acting Chair and Vice-Chair, selected by members of the Commission, 

serves during the continuance of the absences or disabilities. 

 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
22 

C. The Presiding Officer (the Chair) presides at all meetings of the Commission and is 

recognized as the head of the County for all ceremonial purposes. ln addition to the powers 

conferred upon them as Chair, they continue to have all the rights, privileges, and 

immunities of a member of the Commission. The Chair's responsibilities include:  

 

1.  Calling the meeting to order, having ascertained that a quorum is present. 

 

2. Recognition of all Commissioners who seek the floor under correct procedure. All 

questions and comments are to be directed through the Chair and restated by them, 

and they declare all votes.  

 

3. Preserving order and calling to order any member of the Commission who violates 

any of these procedures; and, when presiding, deciding questions of order, subject to 

a majority vote on a motion to appeal.  

 

4. Expedition of business in every way compatible with the rights of members. 

 

5.  Remaining objective. The Chair retains the same rights in debate as any other 

member, but the impartiality required of the Chair in an assembly precludes 

exercising these rights while presiding. The Chair should have nothing to say on the 

merits of pending questions until the Commissioners and citizens have fully debated 

the question. On certain occasions that should be extremely rare, the Chair may 

believe that a crucial factor relating to such a question has been overlooked and that 

their obligation as a member to call attention to the point outweighs the duty to 

preside at that time. lf the Chair wishes to place or second a motion, the gavel must 

be relinquished. 

 

A.  Based upon these Rules of Procedure, the gavel will be relinquished in the 

following order: 

 

1. Vice Chair.  

 

2.  Other Commissioners based upon seniority. 

 

3.  Another Commission member who has remained impartial; and  

 

4. Clerk to the County Commission. 

 

The presiding officer who relinquished the chair should not return to it until the 

pending main question has been disposed of, since they have expressed 

partisanship as far as that particular matter is concerned.  

 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
23 

6. Declaring the meeting adjourned when the Commission so votes, or at any time in 

the event of an emergency affecting the safety of those present. 

 

7. When time constraints dictate, the Chair is authorized to approve authorizations to 

advertise for public hearings. 

 

8. Assignment of Commissioners' seats in the Commission Board Room.  

 

9. For time-sensitive matters only, the chair is authorized to send letters to the county, 

state and federal legislative delegations and other government officials in support of 

Bradford County or community-based organization initiatives, such as legislative 

changes and grant requests, provided the Board of County Commissioners has taken 

a position in support of the initiative in its legislative agenda or by some other action 

expressed its position on the issue presented. 

 

 

D. Commission Appointments to Boards and Committees 

 

1. Members of the County Commission may serve on various boards and committees. 

Appointments are reviewed and made on the second regular scheduled meeting of 

November of each year or as soon thereafter as practicable.  

 

2. A listing of previous-year appointments will be disseminated to the County Commission 

in advance of the appropriate meeting so that each Commissioner can determine their 

interest in serving on various boards and committees. 

 

3. lf there is no nominee or no volunteer or more than one volunteer for a vacancy, the 

Chair will appoint a commissioner to serve. The Commission shall ratify the 

appointments to boards and committees.  

 

4. Each committee shall call upon, advise upon, and seek the recommendation of the 

County Manager's staff. Employees shall staff the various committees as directed by the 

County Manager. When the staff and committee’s recommendations differ, both 

recommendations will be discussed at the appropriate regular Commission meeting.  

 

5. The County Manager is responsible for scheduling recommendations or reports on the 

Commission agenda in a timely manner. Reports will include minutes of the committee 

meeting and other supporting documentation.  

 

E. Functional Groups 

 

1. To improve performance in functional areas of county operations, the County Manager 

may establish collaborative workgroups and a regularly scheduled forum to bring 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
24 

together multiple departments. These functional groups are intended to foster teamwork 

and better communication to enhance program coordination, policy recommendations, 

and regulations governing county operations. 

 

2. Meetings of functional groups shall be regularly scheduled and properly noticed public 

meetings. The County Manager shall designate county staff to Chair each functional 

group. ln order to assure timely communication of issues considered by each functional 

group, the agendas and functional group meeting minutes will be provided to all 

commissioners. 

 

F. Suspension and Construction of Rules 

 

Temporary suspension of these procedures shall permit the Commission to take some action 

that would otherwise be prevented by a procedural rule already adopted. These Rules of 

Procedure may be amended or temporarily suspended at any Commission meeting with an 

affirmative vote of a majority of the Commission. These rules are for the efficient and 

orderly conduct of Commission business only; no violation of such rules shall invalidate any 

action of the Commission when approved by a majority vote required by law. 

 

G. Guidelines for Boards and Committees 

 

1. Designation, Length of Service. Boards and committees are to be designated as standing 

or special. A sunset date will be specified for special committees. Term length for serving 

on any standing board or committee will be a minimum of two years unless otherwise 

specified. 

 

2. Transition between Members. Board or committee by-laws will include language, which 

provides for members whose terms have expired to continue serving until the appropriate 

appointments are made. 

 

3. Alternate Members.  All boards and committees shall have at least one alternate member. 

The attendance requirement detailed herein applies to alternate members. An alternate 

member shall serve in place of an absent member and shall have all the rights and 

responsibilities of the absent member, including the right to vote. 

 

4. Attendance. Any board or committee member whose attendance is less than fifty percent 

(50%) of the last six (6) consecutive meetings will automatically be removed from the 

board or committee. Staff liaisons shall report attendance monthly to the Board and 

Committee Coordinator. The coordinator will prepare a monthly report to the 

Commission of attendance violations. The coordinator will prepare a letter notifying 

attendance policy violators of their dismissal and will submit the letters to the Commission 

Chair for signature. 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
25 

 

a. The board or committee liaison chair will provide written notice of attendance 

violations to the County Commission Chair. lf a board or committee member from 

another elected body has low attendance, the Board Coordinator notify the chief 

elected official of the elected body and the County Commission Chair of the low 

attendance. A letter notifying attendance policy violators of their dismissal will be 

submitted to the Commission Chair for signature. 

 

b. When a quorum is not present at an announced meeting of a board or committee, 

the board or committee shall meet in a workshop setting, record attendance, and 

furnish minutes. Officers shall be elected on October 1 of each fiscal year or as 

soon thereafter as practicable. 

 

5. Work Plans and Accomplishment Reports 

 

a. Boards and committees shall submit work plans, accomplishment reports or other 

communications directly to the County Commission Chair with a copy to the 

County Manager. The details associated with the work plans will be dependent 

upon the mission of the board or committee. Oral presentations on work plans or 

reports of accomplishments are optional. lf presentations are given, they should 

be scheduled on the Commission's agenda coinciding with the submission date for 

the written documents. All boards will receive training relative to their prospective 

appointments within the first year of the term. lf any said member is unable to 

attend, they shall relinquish their post and another member will be solicited. This 

is to ensure all members of any board representing the Commission are properly 

trained in order to eliminate conflicts and promote a sense of responsibility and 

order. Failure to do so shall constitute grounds for removal. 

 

6. All boards will receive training relative to their prospective appointments within the first 

year of their term. If any said member is unable to attend, they shall relinquish their post 

and another member will be solicited. This is to ensure all members of any board 

representing the Commission is are properly trained in order to eliminate conflicts and 

promote a sense of responsibility and order. Failure to do so shall constitute grounds for 

removal. 

 

7. Removal of Members for Cause 

 

a. Any board or committee member may be removed for good cause by the 

Commission after consideration of the issue at a Commission meeting. A removal 

for good cause shall be based on the failure of the board member to adhere to 

and/or enforce the Bradford County Code of Ordinances while performing their 

duties as a Board or committee member.  

 



NOTE: Strikeout = Suggested to Remove   (Page numbers, widows, and orphans 

              Red Letter = Suggested Addition         will be adjusted for final draft) 
              

 
26 

8. Election of Officers 

 

a. All board and committee officers (i.e. Chair, Vice-Chair, etc.) shall be elected by 

the membership of the board of committee. 

 

b. Officers shall be elected on October 1st of each fiscal year or as soon thereafter as 

is practicable. 

 

9. Meeting Frequency 

 

a. At a minimum, all boards and committees shall meet once per year. 

  

b. The names of those boards or committees that do not meet this minimum 

requirement shall be submitted to the County Manager. 

 

c. Recommendation to dissolve boards or committees or other recommended action 

will be submitted to the Commission for consideration. 

 

10. Parliamentary Procedure 

 

a. As appropriate, the most recent edition of the Roberts Rules of Order shall be the 

rules of the boards and committees, so long as they do not conflict with 

ordinances, statutes, or these rules. 

 

11. Open to the Public 

 

a. All board and committee meetings shall be open to the public in accordance with 

the Florida Government in the Sunshine Law, Section 286.011, Florida Statutes. 

Regular committee meetings will be conducted in a publicly owned or controlled 

building. Special meetings and any subcommittee meetings will also be conducted 

in publicly owned or controlled buildings. All meetings will be held in a building 

that is open to the public. 

 

 


	2-6-24 Agenda Draft
	12-21-2023 BoCC Minutes Full Packet
	AIIS - 12-21-23 Meeting Minutes
	12-21-2023 BoCC Reg. Meeting Minutes

	BSSF FL Challenge TDC Request
	Mower Purchase
	AIIS (Emergency Venilators)
	Hazmat Proclamation Full Packet
	AIIS - Copy
	Hazmat Awareness Week Proclamation 2024.Bradford County

	AIIS - Copy
	Transportation Plan Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Transportation Plan
	Bradford County TP
	Signature Page

	Goals and Measures Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Copy
	Goals and Measures


